1955

Sarah Margaret DeWeese v. J. C. Penney Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff brought this action to recover damages for a fall in the entranceway of the J. C. Penney store at 213 South Main Street in Salt Lake City on November 30, 1953. The case was tried before a jury in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, with the Honorable Martin M. Larson presiding. After plaintiff had introduced her evidence and rested, the court reserved its ruling on defendant's motion for an involuntary dismissal. After defendant had introduced its evidence, the court reserved its ruling on defendant's motion for a directed verdict. The case

was submitted to the jury, a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant was returned by them in the amount of \$10,000.00, and judgment was entered accordingly. Thereafter, defendant moved the court for a new trial or, in the alternative, to set aside the verdict and enter judgment in accordance with its motion for a directed verdict theretofore reserved by the court. These motions were both denied by the court.

Sarah Margaret DeWeese was 27 years old at the time of the trial. On November 30, 1953, she left her home at 1275 Emerson Avenue in Salt Lake City to go to town to do some shopping and to meet her husband who was scheduled to get off work between 9:15 and 9:30 P.M. Her husband, Hugh DeWeese, was Assistant Manager of the W. T. Grant store located at 241 South Main Street in Salt Lake City. She was wearing regular winter apparel but was not wearing any galoshes or overshoes. (R. 17). She caught the bus at 13th East and Emerson Avenue at 8:00 P. M. and at that time the weather was fair, with no precipitation. After she had traveled about one block or maybe a block and one-half snow began to fall in large flakes, melting before it hit the ground. She got off the bus at 2nd South and State Streets and the weather was the same but there was no snow on the ground. The sidewalks were damp and wet but not wet enough for any water to be running on them (R. 18) and there were no puddles unless there was a break in the sidewalk. (R. 35) She went directly to the J. C. Penney store.

The floor of the entrance to the store consisted of terrazzo and she entered from the north side. (R. 19-20) She noticed the floor was wet and muddy and footprints

or streaks from people walking in and out. (R. 20, 39) There was no water puddled or running (R. 42) but she never thought about it being slick or anything of that nature. (R. 20) She was not looking up or down. (R. 30) The entrance was lighted and she could see where she was going. (R. 28) She was from two to five feet from the sidewalk when her right foot went forward and her left leg folded under her and she fell. A customer helped her up and she went into the store. She called her husband at the W. T. Grant store and he came to defendant's store immediately. A Mr. Davies, an employee of the store, arrived and asked her if there were any mats in the entrance. She told him no and he went out to the entrance, returned and got a bucket and went outside and put what appeared to be Feldspar on the entranceway. The accident occurred around 8:15 or 8:20 P.M. She was in the J. C. Penney store approximately 15 to 20 minutes and went from there to W. T. Grant's store. (R. 21-22) When she went out of the store there were no mats in the entranceway.

The entranceway where plaintiff fell had a slope of 4 inches to 10 feet. The sidewalk in front of the store had a slope of 5.5 inches to 10 feet. (R. 29) She left W. T. Grant's store with her husband between 9:15 and 9:30 and the weather and the sidewalks were about the same as when she fell.

Over objection of the defendant, plaintiff's husband was allowed to testify that he married plaintiff on November 4, 1950 in Roanoke, Virginia. He had been raised there and was first employed in Postal Service at the age of 18, subsequently going to the U. S. Army, attending college and then returning to the Post Office, after which

he went to work as a Trainee Manager for W. T. Grant Company. (R. 66-67) With W. T. Grant Company he had duties to perform in connection with the maintenance and upkeep of the entrances to the store, which were of terrazzo. Thereafter he worked for the same company in Greensboro, North Carolina, Richmond, Virginia, Williamsburg, Virginia, Winchester, Virginia, Newport News, Virginia, Atlanta, Georgia and Salt Lake City, at all of which places they had terrazzo entranceways and he had duties relative to the upkeep and maintenance of the same. (R. 67-70)

On the 30th day of November, 1953, the following precipitation amounting to .02 inches was received in Salt Lake City:

“Light rain started at 8:12 P.M., ended at 8:34 P.M.
Very light rain started at 9:15 P.M., ended at 9:31 P.M.

Light rain started at 9:31, ended at 10:59 P.M.
Light snow started at 10:45 P.M., ended at 11:00 P.M.

Very light rain started at 10:59 P.M., ended at 11:35 P.M.

Very light snow started at 11:05 P.M., ended at 11:36 P.M.” (Exhibit 4-P).

The temperature on November 30th was a maximum of 62 and a minimum of 39, which maximum tied the previous record for this day and was the warmest November since records began in 1874. On the 30th of November, 1953 there was only a trace of precipitation at 9 o'clock and a trace is an amount too small to measure. (Ex. 5-D)

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT THE TRIAL TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF THE JURY.

POINT II.

PLAINTIFF WAS GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING IMPROPER EVIDENCE AT THE TRIAL.

POINT I.

THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT THE TRIAL TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF THE JURY.

Plaintiff predicated her right to recover solely upon the following two allegations of negligence contained in the complaint:

“(a) That defendant constructed the entranceway to its store with a terrazzo surface and on an inclining plane at a time when it well knew, or should have known, that said surface had the propensity of becoming slick and slippery when wet.

“(b) Defendant failed and neglected to place any abrasives or rubber matting on said entranceway at a time when it well knew, or should have known, that said entranceway had become slick

and slippery as a result of inclement weather.”
(R. 2)

There was no evidence introduced at the trial in support of the first allegation and the court did not submit such a question to the jury. The mere fact that an incline or slope existed cannot sustain any charge of negligence. However, the only evidence introduced at the trial showed that the slope was in fact less than that of the sidewalk itself in front of and adjoining the entranceway. The general rule is well stated in *Shearman & Redfield on Negligence*, Revised Edition, Vol. 4, Sec. 798, page 1824:

“But there is no inherently dangerous construction merely because the marble floor of an entranceway to a store has a slanting or sloping surface.”

One of plaintiff's witness also testified that this type of entrance was in common use to the extent of approximately 80% of the business establishments on Main Street.

The duty of care controlling in this case has been fully set out by this court. In *Jenson v. S.H. Kress & Company*, 87 Ut. 434, 49 P.2d 958 (1935), this court held that a storekeeper's duty was to exercise ordinary care and diligence to provide and maintain a reasonably safe place of business for its customers and to exercise the same degree of care and diligence to prevent injury to them and to their property while they are lawfully in its place of business or on the premises. This court also held that a storekeeper is not an insurer of the safety of its customers. This rule of law has been reaffirmed by this court in the case of *Erickson v. Walgreen Drug Co.*,

----- Ut. -----, 232 P.2d 210, 31 A.L.R.2d 177, where the court said:

“* * * In the instant case the appellant can only be liable if the terrazzo floor when wet subjected business visitors to an unreasonable risk and the appellant either knew or by the exercise of reasonable care could have discovered that such a condition existed. * * *”

Viewing all the evidence in a light most favorable to plaintiff, we respectfully submit that reasonable minds could not differ that the floor upon which plaintiff fell did not subject her to an unreasonable risk and that the defendant did not know, and by the exercise of reasonable care could not have discovered, that any hazard existed.

First and foremost, the record does not support the charge that the entranceway had become slippery. Mrs. DeWeese stated:

“A. I was just walking along normally, minding my own business, and I noticed the floor was wet, but never thought about it being slick or anything like that.

“Q. And what happened?

“A. And the next thing I knew, I was down after I had gone two or three feet inside the entrance.” (R. 20)

Mr. Caffall, one of the plaintiff's witnesses, testified that he did not test the terrazzo at J. C. Penney's for slipperiness when it was wet. (R. 100) He also testified that a lot of differences existed in various terrazzo (R. 95) and that terrazzo when wet was just about as slippery as

the sidewalk. All of plaintiff's evidence introduced in an attempt to show possible slipperiness was related to the terrazzo in front of W. T. Grant's store or in the W. T. Grant's stores in Roanoke, Virginia, Greensboro, North Carolina, Richmond, Virginia, Williamsburg, Virginia, Winchester, Virginia, Newport News, Virginia and Atlanta, Georgia. As will be hereinafter pointed out, the terrazzo or its condition in the entranceways to these other stores was inadmissible and had no probative value relative to the terrazzo in front of the defendant's store. Admittedly, Mr. DeWeese testified that he almost fell, but he was in a hurry and he was not walking in a normal manner nor as his wife had been walking, nor in the same place.

The only affirmative evidence introduced relevant to the terrazzo in the entranceway of defendant's store was by the defendant, whose witness, Dr. Harris, testified from actual measurements made of the static and kinetic coefficients of friction of the terrazzo where Mrs. DeWeese fell. This testimony was to the effect that, first, it was not more slippery when wet than dry; second, it was less slippery when worn, and, third, it was about as slippery when wet as the sidewalk in front of the store. (R. 110-119)

Reasonable minds cannot differ in concluding that defendant did not know, nor by the exercise of reasonable care could it have discovered, any alleged hazardous condition.

The time element in this case is startling. This accident, by plaintiff's own testimony, happened around 8:15 or 8:20 P.M. Her husband corroborated this by his testimony. After plaintiff had fallen, been helped up, had

gone into defendant's store and then called her husband at W. T. Grant's store, he arrived at J. C. Penney's store between 8:15 and 8:30 P.M. Plaintiff also introduced the weather report, showing: "Light rain started at 8:12 P.M., ended at 8:34 P.M." (Ex. 4-P)

Plaintiff's testimony that it had begun to snow shortly after she boarded the bus at 13th East and Emerson, is not inconsistent, for this court can take judicial notice that precipitation could have begun at the higher elevation of 13th East before any precipitation began in town. The only evidence of any precipitation in town other than the weather report was plaintiff's testimony of precipitation during the time it took her to walk from 2nd South and State Streets to defendant's store, less than a block and a half away.

The month of November had been the warmest November since weather records began in 1874. No precipitation had fallen during the previous five days, and, in fact, only five days out of the entire month showed any precipitation at all. (Ex. 5-D) The uncontroverted evidence is that on the evening Mrs. DeWeese fell precipitation began at 8:12 P.M., with just a trace falling from that time until 8:34 P.M. The weather report shows all precipitation to be very light and intermittent, and Mrs. DeWeese properly categorized it as a "mist," (R. 36) certainly not enough to cause the sidewalks to run water or collect puddles, and the only moisture in defendant's covered foyer was placed there during a period of not less than three nor more than eight minutes prior to plaintiff's fall and consisted of streaks or marks from people's feet. These did not extend into the store beyond where Mrs. DeWeese fell.

We submit that to hold a store owner to a standard of care imposing constructive notice or knowledge of a purportedly but not proven slippery condition in a covered entranceway, which could not have been in existence for more than approximately five minutes, is unreasonable and would in effect require that defendant be an insurer of its customers' safety. Such a rule is contrary to the law in this state and the overwhelming rule of law in the United States. *Jenson v. S. H. Kress Co.*, supra; *Erickson v. Walgreen Drug Co.*, supra.

The Supreme Court of Washington in *Knopp, etal. v. Kemp & Hebert*, 74 P.2d 924, (S.Ct. Washington, 1938), in affirming a judgment on a directed verdict for the defendant department store, declared:

"* * * At any event, there is evidence that the sidewalk in front of the store was wet and some of the slush or water had slopped over on the terrazzo floor where it joined the cement sidewalk. As Mrs. Knopp stepped on the terraza [sic.], she slipped and fell on her right side, seriously injuring her upper right arm and her right shoulder."

"The decisions of this court, as well as the decisions of other courts, have very generally denied recovery in cases where persons have fallen on smooth floors even when they are made slippery by the presence of wax or water. A great many of these cases are collected and discussed in *Shumaker v. Charada Investment Co.*, 183 Wash. 521, 49 P.2d 44. Among the cases there cited is *Kresge Co. v. Fader*, 116 Ohio St. 718, 158 N. E. 174, 175, 58 A.L.R. 132, from which we quote as follows: 'It is a fact known to all that many stores in all branches of trade have an inside door or passageway into the store, usually in the middle of the front.

On each side of this passageway is a display window. The passage then extends back ten or twelve feet or more to the entrance door to the store. This passage usually has a slight slope from the door to the sidewalk, at which line there is no door. This slope is to carry away the rain that may blow into the passageway. The passageway is in fact practically a part of the sidewalk, but at the same time it is within the front line of the store, and under control of the store. Would any one contend that, if a person walked into such passageway when it was raining, and there slipped and fell, he could recover damages because there was moisture on the floor of the passageway? Manifestly not. Everybody knows that, when people are entering any building when it is raining, they will carry some moisture on their feet, which will render the floor near the door on the inside damp to some extent, and every one knows that a damp floor is likely to be a little more slippery than a dry floor. In this instance Mrs. Fader knew that her own shoes were wet when she went in there out of the rain-storm, and after walking on the wet sidewalk. Two of her companions who preceded her crossed the same wet spot as she did, and did not fall, and the one of them who testified in the case said that he did not turn and warn her about the wet spot, as there was nothing about it to indicate to him that it presented any danger—a very frank and a very natural statement.’

“See, also, *Cornwell v. S. S. Kresge Co.*, 112 W. Va. 237, 164 S.E. 156; *Picman v. Higbee Co.*, 54 Ohio App. 55, 6 N.E.2d 21; *Anderson v. Seattle Park Co.*, 79 Wash. 575, 140 P. 698; *Mullen v. Sensenbrenner Mercantile Co.*, Mo. Sup., 260 S.W. 982, 33 A.L.R. 176.

“Walking, although it becomes automatic by long practice and use, is, after all, a highly compli-

cated process. The body balance is maintained by the co-ordination of many muscles, and their operation is controlled by an intricate system of motor nerves, the failure of any of which for a split second, on account of advancing age or for some other reason, may cause a fall. It is common knowledge that people fall on the best of sidewalks and floors. A fall, therefore, does not, of itself, tend to prove that the surface over which one is walking is dangerously unfit for the purpose."

To the same effect the Circuit Court of Appeals of the Tenth Circuit, in the case of *Sears Roebuck & Co. v. Johnson*, 91 F.2d 332, reversed a judgment for the plaintiff, who had slipped on an allegedly wet and therefore slippery floor of defendant's store, saying:

"From the record, it appears that when it is raining in said city, some water is usually carried into stores by parties going in and out, and that those coming in from without on a wet day have wet shoes.

"It is just as reasonable to infer that plaintiff slipped because of wet shoes as on account of a damp floor.

"Under either theory, the evidence is insufficient to make an issue as to negligence on the part of defendant. The conditions complained of were not shown to have existed for any length of time. Whilst there is evidence that it was raining around 9:30 and 10 o'clock in the morning, its extent is not stated although plaintiff should have been able to state the extent.

"As to what period during the rain it was sufficient to wet the streets so that the shoes of persons entering the store would carry in water or

mud, if at all, is not disclosed. The rain in the beginning may have been merely a drizzle and have gradually increased. So you cannot point out with any reasonable certainty as to when or how long, if at all, that floor was sufficiently wet as to place the defendant on notice that it should receive attention by mopping or otherwise.

"There was no evidence on part of plaintiff that her shoes were not wet, and that information was peculiarly within her knowledge."

"The fact that invitee may have slipped on the floor of the store did not shift to defendant burden of establishing that accident did not occur through its negligence, nor create presumption of negligence. The presumption is that defendant exercised reasonable care, as respects liability for injury to plaintiff on account of slipping on floor. Defendant was not an insurer against accidents to persons entering the store for making purchases or otherwise on invitation."

In *Parsons v. H. L. Green Co.*, 10 N.W.2d 40, the defendant store was charged with a slippery and unsafe condition due to water, slush, snow and mud being allowed to collect and which condition defendant knew or should have known existed. In affirming a directed verdict for the defendant store the Supreme Court of Iowa stated:

"* * * We cannot say that a failure to follow and remove immediately every deposit of snow that is brought into a building can reasonably be held to be a breach of duty which the inviter owes to an invitee and so constitutes negligence. Such is not the holding of the courts where this question has arisen. To so require would demand an exercise of such extra-ordinary care as to be unreasonable."

“* * * In order that there shall be liability, there must be some evidence of notice of the existing condition, either actual or constructive, and in such time that the defendant in the exercise of ordinary care could have remedied it. *Snipps v. Minneapolis & St. L. R. Co.*, 164 Iowa 530, 146 N.W. 468, and cases cited. No evidence of such knowledge appears in the record.”

In *Brunet v. S. S. Kresge Co.*, 115 F.2d 713, the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit reaffirmed the foregoing general rule:

“We think the facts as proved by appellee fail to disclose such a lack of reasonable and ordinary care in the maintenance and supervision of the premises as to render appellant liable for her accident. In the words of the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit in another case involving a fall on rather dark stairs wet from tracked-in water:

“‘If what was shown in this case was sufficient to permit recovery, it would require store owners to have a mopper stationed at the doors on rainy days for the sole purpose of mopping up after every customer entering or leaving the premises. Every store owner would be required to be an insurer against such accidents to public invitees who came in on rainy days with wet shoes.’ *Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Johnson*, 91 F.2d 332, 339.”

Also, in *Gallagher v. Children's Aid Soc. of Pennsylvania and Philadelphia*, 23 A.2d 452, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania, in affirming a nonsuit, where the plaintiff fell due to wet condition in defendant's office building, said:

"The case falls within the familiar rule that negligence cannot be inferred from the mere happening of an accident. *Hulmes v. Keel*, 335 Pa. 117, 119, 6 A.2d 64. The mere happening of an accident does not show that one party or the other was at fault. *McAvoy v. Kromer*, 277 Pa. 196, 120 A. 762. Plaintiff's proofs were also deficient in that she failed to show that the condition of which she complained had existed for an unreasonable length of time so that defendant was put on notice. *MacDonald v. Gimbel Bros., Inc.*, 321 Pa. 25, 183 A. 804; *Bremer v. W. W. Smith, Inc.*, 126 Pa.Super. 408, 411, 191 A. 395; Restatement, Torts, Sec. 343."

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