1955

Sarah Margaret DeWeese v. J. C. Penney Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED A JURY QUESTION AS TO DEFENDANT'S NEGLIGENCE.

Two cases establish the Utah law where terrazzo surfaces are involved. They are *Erickson v. Walgreen Drug Co.*, (1951) U., 232 P. 2d 210, and *W. T. Grant Co. v. Karren*, C.C.A. 10th (1951), 190 F. 2d, 710. Counsel for defendant in his brief has attempted to side step these cases and to fit the case at bar into the clearly distinguishable "puddle of water" or "foreign substance" type of case. This court specifically distinguished the two in the Erickson case when it stated at 232 P. 2d 212:

"This is not the case of a business visitor slipping on some foreign substance such as oil, which had carelessly been spilled on the floor only a short time prior to the accident."

Defendant further cites the recent case of *Lindsay v. Eccles Hotel Company*, 3 U. 2d 364, 284 P. 2d 477, as authority when the court specifically held it to be a "foreign substance" case.

The facts in the case at bar are almost identical with the facts of the Erickson case. Here, as in the Erickson case, there was testimony that terrazzo surfaces become slippery when wet. In both cases there was testimony that any grit material in terrazzo loses its effectiveness

to prevent slipping with wear. The terrazzo in the case at bar had been in use for approximately 14 years. In both cases there was evidence of a custom existing in Salt Lake City on Main Street for stores having terrazzo entrances to use rubber mats and/or non-slip aggregates. In the Erickson case, there was a slope of only $1/16$ of an inch to the foot, or $5/8$ of an inch in ten feet. In the case at bar, the slope was four inches in ten feet, or nearly seven times as great. In the Erickson case there was no evidence of a custom of using rubber mats or non-slip aggregate at the Walgreen store entrance. In the case at bar there was evidence by the actions of defendant's employee of such a custom at J. C. Penney's. Furthermore, counsel for defendant in his brief, on page 19 states:

"Admittedly the defendant, J. C. Penney Company used mats and Feldspar during inclement weather, * * *"

Defendant maintains that there was no evidence that defendant's terrazzo was slick and slippery at the time of Mrs. DeWeese's fall. This remarkable contention ignores the testimony of Mrs. DeWeese that she slipped on this floor, that her foot slipped right out from under her, and of Mr. DeWeese that he slipped and almost fell on the same terrazzo on his way in shortly after Mrs. DeWeese's fall, and his further testimony that this terrazzo surface was slick. Certainly Davies would not have performed the useless act of throwing feldspar on a dry non-slippery surface. It will be remembered that this

surface was removed and replaced some time prior to trial. Counsel for defendant did not offer to bring a piece of it to court or explain why he did not. In fact, the only witness produced by defendant was Dr. Harris, who performed laboratory tests on the terrazzo at a different time and under different circumstances and without taking account of the slope or the problems of a person walking. As far as the record shows, Dr. Harris merely placed weights on various shoes and pushed them along the surface. The jury was not required to give any weight to such testimony. The original border of the terrazzo remained. Caffill examined it and stated that it was "quite smooth" and that he could detect no carborundum. Defendant offered no testimony as to any carborundum or non-slip aggregate being a component of the terrazzo.

These facts provided the jury with a solid foundation for finding as fact the elements required in Section 343 of the American Law Institute's *Restatement of the Law of Torts*:

"A possessor of land is subject to liability for bodily harm caused to business visitors by a natural or artificial condition thereon if, but only if, he

(a) knows, or by the exercise of reasonable care could discover, the condition which, if known to him, he should realize as involving an unreasonable risk to them, and

(b) has no reason to believe they will discover the condition or realize the risk involved therein, and

(c) invites or permits them to enter or remain upon the land without exercising reasonable care

(i) to make the condition reasonably safe, or

(ii) to give a warning adequate to enable them to avoid the harm * * *."

Defendant is charged with knowledge that its terrazzo entranceway was ground to a smooth finish, that it was on a slope, and that when it became damp or wet the surface became dangerously slick and slippery. Defendant also knew that large numbers of its invitees could be expected at all times during business hours to be using its entranceway. Under these circumstances defendant owed a duty of alert, attentive, watchfulness for signs of inclement weather as well as for inclement weather, so it could put out the mats and feldspar in plenty of time to avoid danger. Taking the evidence most favorable to plaintiff it had been raining and snowing approximately twenty minutes before plaintiff dismounted from the bus at State Street and Second South.

It had started to rain and snow when the bus had gone about a block or a block and a half and it usually took the bus fifteen to twenty minutes to make the trip to town. It probably took plaintiff another five or ten minutes to walk the block and a half to defendant's store.

During this twenty-five to thirty minutes customers were continuously walking into the store with the dampness and wetness on their feet, hair and clothing. The store had its usual employees at the front as well as the rear of the store. They could see out the windows. Under such circumstances the jury was unquestionably justified in finding that defendant by the exercise of reasonable care could have discovered the dangerous condition existing at its entranceway. It would have taken less than a minute to bring out the mats and/or sprinkle the entrance with feldspar, or to warn patrons of the dangerous condition.

Defendant had no reason to believe that invitees would discover or realize the risk involved in walking on the terrazzo entranceway. Slickness is not a thing that can always be seen. It is something that is felt. Wet terrazzo is deceptively innocent in appearance and dangerous in character. There was no evidence that plaintiff would have had any reason to discover that this entranceway was slick in time to avoid her injury. Plaintiff was entitled to believe that the entranceway surface was safe for use unless and until a reasonably prudent person under like circumstances and with like opportunity for observation would have concluded otherwise.

Defendant's doors were open. The invitation to cross its entranceway was extended to one and all. It was a busy shopping time, yet defendant made no effort what-

soever to use readily available means to eliminate the danger apparent to it but not apparent to its invitees. Neither did defendant make any effort to give warning of the danger that existed.

The facts of the Erickson case as stated on page 215 in the dissenting opinion show that Walgreen Drug Company had approximately thirty minutes in which to apprise itself of the situation and remedy it. It was stated:

“On September 25, 1948, plaintiff left her home at approximately 2:30 P.M., at which time it was beginning to rain. She arrived at Second South and Main Streets at approximately 3:00 P.M. The streets were wet and it was still raining.”

In the case of *Brody v. Albert Lifson & Sons, Inc.*, N.J. (1955), 111 A. 2d 504, the court recognized the difference in principle between the terrazzo case and the slippery foreign substance case. The court pointed out that in the puddle of water or foreign substance case the dangerous condition is ordinarily equally open to discovery by both the store owner and the invitee for the reason that the slipperiness is caused by the puddle of water or foreign substance with the floor surface not having anything to do with the dangerous condition whereas in the terrazzo type of case the dangerous condition is created by the combination of a surface having the propensity to be slick and slippery when wet and an expect-

able action of nature. The court in the Brody case cited both the Erickson and the Karren cases in affirming a verdict for the plaintiff.

In the Brody case the plaintiff slipped and fell on defendant's terrazzo entrance after business hours. She had gone into defendant's lighted entranceway to see the display windows. The floor surface of the entranceway was terrazzo with a slope of $\frac{3}{8}$ of an inch to the foot, or $3\frac{3}{4}$ inches in 10 feet. Plaintiff's expert testified that the floor was considerably slippery when wet and that the standard practice in wet weather was to use rubber mats. The fall occurred on the evening of June 4, 1951, a warm summer night. There was conflict in the testimony as to when the incident occurred and when the rain began. Plaintiff testified that she fell at about 8:00 P.M., that the sky was cloudy while she had been in Newark (happened in Elizabeth), and that there had been showers in Newark from 7:00 P.M. on. A meteorologist testified that rain began in Elizabeth at 8:30 P.M., but this report came from Union County Park Commission. The Chief of the Union County Park Police testified that rain started at 8:10 P.M., and would be reported on the half hour. An Elizabeth police officer testified that the accident was reported at 8:47 P.M. Plaintiff testified that the surface of the terrazzo was wet and slippery. Defendant asserted that it did not have sufficient notice. In answer to this assertion, the court stated at page 507:

"In the Bohm case, *supra*, we held that the duty existing, frequently the result has turned upon notice of the defective condition, direct or imputed by proof of adequate opportunity to discover the defective condition * * *. It is this principle that is invoked in the present case by the defendant. This case, however, is not subject to unqualified application of that philosophy. We have not, in the circumstances here presented, a defective condition arising either suddenly or by wear over a period of time, nor an uncommon accumulation of water.

"The present matter lies within the confines of the rule that a negligent act may be one which 'creates a situation which involves an unreasonable risk to another because of the expectable actions of the other * * * or a force of nature.'

"In the present case there was evidence from which a jury could reasonably infer that the construction of the floor rendered it peculiarly liable to become slippery by virtue of introduction of water thereon and that defendant omitted precautions which would have been practical or reasonable under the circumstances of this case.

* * * *

" * * and in the present case the alleged cause is the intrinsic quality of the material used or condition created by the defendant when exposed to normal weather conditions. This is an intrinsic substance case, not a foreign substance case. Therefore, it is not ruled by the 'waxed floor', 'pool of water', 'grease spot' or 'defective or worn tread' cases, where the foreign substance or extra-normal condition of the premises is alleged to be the cause of an injury."*

In the notice aspect of the case, the New Jersey Court relied on the theory set out in paragraph 302(b) of the American Law Institute Restatement of Torts:

“A negligent act may be one which:

* * * *

“(b) creates a situation which involves an unreasonable risk to another because of the expectable action of the other, a third person, an animal *or a force of nature.*”

The case at bar deals with the expectable actions of a force of nature. It is common knowledge that throughout the year in this part of the country there will be rain and snow. Wetness and a terrazzo surface when combined cause an unusually dangerous slipping hazzard. This hazzard is increased considerably when the terrazzo surface is sloped in a different direction than the sidewalk approach thereto. Defendant had a duty being the owner of this entranceway to know these facts, and is charged with such knowledge. On the other hand, this condition would not be apparent to the plaintiff and defendant is also charged with this knowledge. Under these circumstances defendant owed a duty to maintain its entranceway at all times in a safe condition. The means for keeping its entranceways safe were readily available. First, defendant could remain at all times alert to weather conditions. Second, defendant could by proper use of mats and/or feldspar prevent a slick and slippery condition from ever existing or in the alternative warn its customers of any dangerous condition that may exist. The dictates of ordinary care may very

well require under the facts of this case that rubber mats be left on the terrazzo entranceway at *all* times.

The Karren case contains an interpretation by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals of the Erickson case. The Court stated at 190 F. 2d 711:

“Here the appellee’s own testimony establishes that it knew of the slippery condition of such floors when wet and that it instructed its porter to put additional non-skid material on the entranceway under such condition. Under the decision of the Supreme Court of Utah, we think it became a question of fact for the jury’s determination whether under the existing conditions appellant exercised reasonable care for the safety of its invitees.”

The Karren case was not even cited by defendant in its brief, and yet defendant cited an earlier case from the Tenth Circuit which involved an inside stairway and in which there was not even evidence of a wet surface, *Sears-Roebuck & Co. v. Johnson*, 91 F. 2d, 332 (1937).

In describing the scope of defendant’s duties, this court in the Erickson case stated at page 212:

“While there is no evidence of any incident occurring which would have put the appellant on notice that the terrazzo was slippery when wet, such evidence is not necessary to establish liability on the part of the appellant. The latter was in the actual possession of the building and had a duty to search out defects in the premises in order that they be reasonably safe for the presence of business visitors.”

In the Erickson case, this court cited the case of *Cardall v. Shortenberg's Inc.*, R.I. (1943) 69 R. I. 97, 31 A. 2d 12, as authority for its holding. The Cardall case was also cited by the New Jersey court in the Brody case. In the Cardall case there was a terrazzo surface which had been laid a month or so prior to plaintiff's fall. This surface had a slope upward from the sidewalk to the door of from 3½ to 4 inches in 10½ feet, less than in the case at bar. Also there was a slight slope sideways which is also indicated in the case at bar by the slope of 5½ inches in 10 feet of the sidewalk sloping south. The evidence as to the amount of abrasives in the terrazzo varied from 4% to 40%. The plaintiff testified that the terrazzo was wet and slippery at the time she fell. An expert testified that the terrazzo would become more slippery with water. The court in the Cardall case held that there was a jury question as to whether or not the terrazzo surface was dangerous in wet weather and whether or not defendant was negligent in failing to have a rubber mat or other protection on the terrazzo at the time of the injury.

The dissent in the Erickson case in distinguishing that case from the Cardall case stated at page 218:

“It might be that the case at bar could be distinguished from the Rhode Island case because of the difference in the slope of the entranceway or the time of the year.”

It should be pointed out that the slope in the Cardall case was less than the slope in the case at bar. The Cardall case occurred on February 19 and the case at bar on November 30. It is clear that the facts in the case at bar are stronger in every detail than were the facts in the Erickson case.

In regard to the slope situation in the case at bar, defendant appears to believe the fact that the sidewalk slopes down to the south with a slightly greater slope than exists on the terrazzo, inures to its favor. This situation, which defendant must be charged with knowing, made the terrazzo entranceway even more hazardous and dangerous for this gives a customer two slopes instead of one to deal with. It can be seen that a person walking south on the sidewalk and entering Penneys would be walking downhill and stepping from a downhill slope to an uphill slope to the east. This situation requires even greater care on defendant's part to avoid injuries to its customers.

There are several cases which support and strengthen the law as laid down in the Erickson, Karren, Brody and Cardall cases.

The case of *Deschamps et al v. L. Bamberger*, N.J. (1942) 27 A. 2d 3, involved a marble floor with a slope of $7\frac{1}{4}$ inches in about 15 feet with *no water present*. The court there held there to be a jury question of defendant's negligence in failing to have a mat or other type of covering.

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